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*Pseudonyms 



From: Elanie Cintron
To: megan.mack@hq.dhs.gov; john.roth@oig.dhs.gov
Cc: scott.shuchart@hq.dhs.gov; zachary.bromer@hq.dhs.gov; drew.oosterbaan@oig.dhs.gov;

crclcompliance@hq.dhs.gov
Subject: Treatment of Vulnerable Detainees at Irwin County Detention Center
Date: Wednesday, August 03, 2016 11:15:31 AM

Dear Ms. Mack and Mr. Roth:

 

I write as counsel for  and 
 to express serious concerns regarding the treatment

these extremely vulnerable asylum seekers and trauma survivors have received at
the Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) Irwin County Detention Center.

 

Mr.  and Ms.  are both asylum seekers who are
survivors of severe trauma that is exacerbated by their prolonged detention. They
both fled their home countries as children and sought safety in the United States,
entering as unaccompanied minors. Both are now just eighteen years old. Ms. 

 is a victim of rape, domestic violence, and family-based persecution â€“ 
since she first arrived in the United States, it has become even more dangerous for
her to return to El Salvador. In December 2015, gang members struck her sister
with their vehicle because she refused to disclose Ms.  whereabouts,
and they continue to relentlessly threaten her remaining family members in El
Salvador with death. Ms.  was arrested in Atlanta, Georgia as part of
Operation Border Guardian. She now has an asylum application pending with USCIS
as well as an appeal pending with the Board of Immigration Appeals.

 

Mr.  endured a traumatic childhood involving abuse,
constant fear and sexual molestation. Mr.  fled Guatemala after
spending years trying to escape the threats received by his family members as well
as the child abuse he endured from his father, who is currently incarcerated in
Guatemala after being accused and convicted of murder. The family of the victim
seeks vengeance. As such, Mr.  fear of return to Guatemala
is exacerbated. His only caretaker lives in the U.S. Mr.  was just
seventeen years old when he fled from Guatemala and was kidnapped and subjected
to forced labor with minimal food and water.  He was sequestered for approximately
ten days and was forced to work in an auto body repair shop. During that time, he
was shown pictures of crocodiles eating the bodies of individuals who have defied or
resisted to work and be submissive. As a result of this psychological and physical
coercion, Mr.  is traumatized from this incident, as well as from his
own history of child abuse.

 

Mr.  was also arrested in Atlanta, Georgia as part of
Operation Border Guardian. He has a trafficking (T) visa application as well as an
asylum application pending with USCIS and also has a motion to reopen pending
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with the immigration court. He has now been detained at Irwin since December- for
seven months. ICE has denied every request to release Mr. , even
as an exercise of Prosecutorial Discretion.

Resort to and Threats of Solitary Confinement for Vulnerable Individuals and
Inadequate Mental Health Treatment at Irwin

 

Ample research demonstrates the damaging psychological effects of solitary
confinement including re-traumatization of victims of past abuse<!--[if !supportFootnotes]--
>[1]<!--[endif]-->. President Obama himself has recognized that solitary confinement has
the potential to lead to â€œdevastating, lasting psychological consequencesâ€ and
recently announced that federal prisons would no longer use it for juveniles or
inmates serving time for low-level infractions.<!--[if !supportFootnotes]-->[2]<!--
[endif]-->

 

The egregious resort to solitary confinement (â€œadministrative segregationâ€) for
Ms.  (a survivor of rape and other violence) and the threatened resort to
solitary confinement for Mr.  (a survivor of child abuse and
trafficking) is an affront to civil and human rights â€“ especially where, as here, they
themselves were the victims of bullying and harassment by other detainees.

 

Ms.

In June 2016, Ms.  was subjected to three straight days of solitary
confinement (â€œadministrative segregationâ€) at Irwin. Two other female
detainees had accused her of being a lesbian, saying they saw Ms.  kiss
another girl. They began teasing Ms. , so she told her deportation officer
about it. His response was to place her in administrative segregation while they
conducted an "investigation." This had a terrible effect on Ms. 
mental health. She was held there for three days, in a room with just a bed and a
toilet, and spent much of the time crying. When ICE finally let her out, she was
called in to meet with the two female detainees who had teased her and an officer;
the women apologized, but no explanation was given as to the need for segregation
or the nature of the investigation that was undertaken in response to the incident.

The use of administrative segregation was deeply traumatizing to this 18-year-old
survivor of rape and severe domestic violence in El Salvador and an inappropriate
response to reporting verbal bullying by other detainees. ICE should have stepped in
to end the bullying instead of taking the extraordinary step of placing Ms. 

 (the victim) in segregation.

The use of segregation further violated ICEâ€™s own directive on the subject, which
clearly states that administrative segregation may only be used â€œwhen
necessaryâ€ and, â€œ[i]n particular, placement in administrative segregation due to
a special vulnerability [herein defined to include those â€œwho would be susceptible
to harm in general population due in part to their sexual orientation or gender
identityâ€] should be used only as a last resort when no other viable housing
options exist.â€<!--[if !supportFootnotes]-->[3]<!--[endif]--> There is absolutely no



indication that segregation was needed in this case to protect Ms.  or
anyone else.

Ms.  continues to suffer from the psychological repercussions of
administrative segregation. The solitary confinement she endured exacerbated her
past trauma.  Despite, numerous requests for mental health treatment, Ms. 

 has yet to receive any help for her trauma.

Mr.  

During his seven months of detention at Irwin, Mr.  has been
teased by fellow detainees on numerous occasions because they think he is gay. He
has made several complaints to his ICE deportation officer to no avail. On July 8, Mr.

 was visited by a facility â€œcounselorâ€ and asked point blank if
he is gay. He was taken aback. When he explained that he was struggling in
detention, the â€œcounselorâ€ responded that she could arrange for him to be sent
to administrative segregation. This further upset Mr. . He is
terrified that ICE will place him in administrative segregation, which he absolutely
does not want.

 

While he wanted genuine help and mental health treatment from this counselor, all
he received was intrusive questioning and the option of being placed in
administrative segregation (as well as some pills for his headache).

 

Withholding Necessary Medication

In late December 2015, a nurse at Irwin told Mr.  that he had
gastritis and he was given pills to take.  He does not know the name of the
medication they gave him. Then on or about April 22, 2016, Mr. ,
overheard ICE Officer  infrorm the nurse to stop giving Mr. 

 the medication because he was going to be deported and sent back to
Guatemala. The nurse stopped giving Mr.  the medication for his
gastritis. All he received in the interim was a cream called muscle rub.

Without his medication, Mr.  suffered. He continued to feel
discomfort, and eating was difficult. He went hungry to avoid the discomfort.

On April 21, Mr.  filed an application for a T visa, receipt notice
dated April 27. He also filed an asylum application, receipt notice dated May 10,
2016. Both of these applications are currently pending. A motion to reopen and a
request for a stay of his removal are also pending with the Charlotte immigration
court.

On or about May 9, Officer  took Mr.  to speak to a
Guatemalan consular official. Mr.  asked the consular official if she
could help him get his medicine. When the consular official then asked Officer

 to please take him to the doctor, the ICE officer said, in a low voice, two
words, "fuck asshole," and begrudgingly took Mr.  to medical.  At



medical, Mr.  told the nurses and ICE that he needed someone to
translate from English to Spanish for him, but they did not respond and did not
translate. The consular official then further asked them three times to find an
interpreter, but they did not. When Mr.  tried to tell them in
English that he does not perfectly understand English, the officer told him to shut
up, and two of them began making fun of him because he did not speak English.
About fifteen days prior this, the same ICE officer told Mr.  that he
no longer had an opportunity for anything and that nothing was going to stop his
deportation â€“ though ICE knew that this was not true. Mr.  felt
that the officer was trying to make him feel that he should just give up so they
could deport him. Despite his requests, Mr.  endured weeks
without being provided his medication. This deprivation of medial treatment is not
only detrimental, but also unjust and contrary to the detention standards that should
be adhered to at the facility.

 

Conclusion

We urgently request that you investigate these serious concerns with medical and
mental health treatment, access to independent mental health professionals, and
inappropriate use of administration segregation, both systemically and in these
individual cases. I repeatedly emailed the Atlanta Field Office requesting the proper
protocol for scheduling independent mental health evaluations for my clients at Irwin
but, as of July 29, I have not yet received an answer from the Atlanta Field Office.
Both detainees urgently need such evaluations to take place and are suffering
severe psychological trauma in detention.

 

Further, I urgently request permission to schedule an independent mental health
evaluation for both Ms.  and Mr.  and request the
proper protocol for arranging such evaluations at the Irwin detention facility,
including to whom the email should be addressed and what information the email
must contain.  An evaluation would help assess the need for individual treatment
and would further assure that these individuals being receiving much needed
treatment. Thank you for your time and attention to this matter.

<!--[endif]-->
Warm Regards, 

Elanie J. Cintron, Esq.

LICHTER IMMIGRATION

1601 Vine St.
Denver, CO 80206
Phone: (303) 554-8400
Fax: (303) 554-8099

<!--[if !supportFootnotes]-->www.LichterImmigration.com

---------------------------------------------

http://www.lichterimmigration.com/


[1]<!--[endif]--> See, e.g., Stuart Grassian, â€œPsychiatric Effects of Solitary
Confinement,â€ 22 Wash. U. J.L. & Polâ€™y 325, 328 (2006); Peter Scharff Smith, â
€œThe Effects of Solitary Confinement on Prison Inmates: A Brief History and
Review of the Literature,â€ 34 Crime & Justice 1, 441-528 (2006); Craig Haney and
Mona Lynch, â€œRegulating Prisons of the Future: A Psychological Analysis of
Supermax and Solitary Confinement,â€ 23 N.Y.U. Rev. L. & Soc. Change 477 (1997);
see also Physicians for Human Rights, National Immigrant Justice Center, and
Heartland Alliance, Invisible in Isolation: The Use of Segregation and Solitary
Confinement in Immigration Detention (September 2012), available at
https://www.immigrantjustice.org/publications/report-invisible-isolation-use-
segregation-and-solitary-confinement-immigration-detenti. 

<!--[if !supportFootnotes]-->[2]<!--[endif]--> David Smith, â€œCrackdown on solitary confinement
begins, but a culture of secrecy remains,â€ The Guardian (Jan. 28, 2016), available at
http://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2016/jan/28/solitary-confinement-prisons-barack-obama-albert-
woodfox.

 

<!--[if !supportFootnotes]-->[3]<!--[endif]--> U.S. Immigration and Customs
Enforcement, â€œReview of the Use of Segregation for ICE Detainees,â€ September
4, 2013, available at http://www.aila.org/infonet/ice-use-of-segregation-detainees.
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NAME: Helen Arriola*

AGE AT TIME OF DETENTION: 40

COUNTRY OF ORIGIN: El Salvador

GENDER IDENTITY: Female 

NAME OF FACILITY: McAllen Border Patrol Station, Laredo Processing Center, T. Don Hutto 
Residential Center

DATES INDIVIDUAL WAS DETAINED AT 
FACILITY:

McAllen - 4/28 5pm to 4/29 12pm, Laredo 4/29 - 5/8 , Hutto 5/8 - 6/29

TOPICS COVERED IN COMPLAINT (MEDICAL, 
DUE PROCESS, SAFETY, ETC.):

Medical neglect, due process, verbal abuse, food safety, facility safety, 
retaliation, mental health, physical health, trauma 

*Name changed to protect identitiy

I swear under penalty of perjury that the following statements are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

[body of declaration with numbered paragraphs] 

1. I left El Salvador because it has such a high crime rate and we had no other choice. I came with my Aunt. We 
have always been working women, we had businesses. The Mara 18 gangs asked us for money for many years, 
and they threatened to kill us if we didn’t pay. Finally we said we didn’t want to give them any more money, so 
they tried to kill us. They tried to kill my aunt and they raped her. They threatened to kill our whole family. 

2. I was not treated badly in the prisons, well a little bit in Laredo. My aunt was the one who had problems. 

3. I was released from Taylor [T. Don Hutto]. My aunt remained in Taylor and while waiting for court was sent back 
to Laredo, where we both were before Taylor. 

4. The judge had already given her asylum, but told her to come back with more evidence before she was released. 

5. She was waiting to go back to court when she was taken to Laredo in the middle of the night, at midnight. She 
was not given a warning or an explanation. She was taken to Laredo along with 40 other women.  

6. The guards in Laredo told her and keep telling them they have no rights, that they will get deported. They tell 
them they are not worth anything. They tell them they are there as punishment for coming to the United States 
ilegally.

7. My aunt is not doing well. She doesn't eat, she’s lost 35-40 pounds. 

8. The room where she sleeps is flooded with greywater and all of the women have fungus on their feet. They have 
not given her medicine for it. Even if I send medicine, they will not let her use it. 

9. They have to take the greywater out themselves. The smell is horrible. They have headaches all the time. 

10. The women there also have fevers because of the greywater. They do not give them medicine. 



11. They keep the A/C so cold there that she has had a bloody nose for 2-3 months. 

12. They give them torn uniforms. Sometimes they don’t give them clean uniforms for a whole week. 

13. They disconnect the phones in Laredo so that it says it is out of service. They do not let them call. 

14. My aunt is verbally abused in Laredo. But she has done nothing wrong.

15. September 22 was her last court date. We presented more evidence, newspaper clippings, threat notes, etc. 
They said it wasn’t enough evidence. 

16. They moved the next court date to December 15th. Living like that, she could come out dead. 

17. We have a broken family. Our family is destroyed. It’s a disaster.



CERTIFICATION OF TRANSLATION

I, [name of translator], certify that I am proficient in the English and Spanish languages and that the foregoing was read 
to [declarant] in Spanish.

SIGNATURE OF TRANSLATOR DATE

PERMISSION TO SHARE

I, [name of person taking declaration], certify that I received verbal consent from [declarant] on [date] for Grassroots 
Leadership to share this with the Department of Homeland Security Advisory Council in their review of the agency’s use 
of private prison contractors only. 

SIGNATURE DATE

I, [name of person taking declaration], certify that I received verbal consent from [declarant] on [date] for Grassroots 
Leadership to share this declaration publicly in advocacy, campaigns, media and outreach intended to end private 
prisons contracts in immigrant detention or to expose the reality of immigrant detention. 

SIGNATURE DATE

October 5, 2016

October 5, 2016

October 5, 2016



NAME: Hilda Ramirez  
AGE AT TIME OF DETENTION: 27 years old 
COUNTRY OF ORIGIN: San Marcos, Guatemala, Indigenous. I speak Mam.  
GENDER IDENTITY: Female 
NAME OF FACILITY: Karnes County Residential Center 
DATES DETAINED AT FACILITY: August 1, 2014 to July 2015.  
TOPICS COVERED IN COMPLAINT: Malnutrition, inadequate medical care,    
        maltreatment, verbal abuse 
 

1. I was in the icebox with my son for three days without eating. It was cold, and I didn’t 
have anything to cover myself with. There was no sunlight. I couldn’t see the sunrise or 
the sunset. I didn’t know what time it was. There was no clock so I didn’t know what 
time of day it was.  

2. I had no idea why they took me there. They just told me they were going to take me to 
my family, but I did not expect to go to a place like that. I didn’t even realize there was a 
place like that. I didn’t know there was a judge, or that I could have a lawyer, or that 
someone could help me. I speak Mam, and I wasn’t told that there could be someone 
available to traduce my language.  

3. When we pulled up, I just saw a bus parked. I saw a big house. I thought it was a bus 
station where they would tell me how to get to my family; since they told me I was able 
to go with my family. I never imagined they would take me to a place like this.  

4. They got us out of the bus and I went in. They made us get in a line and I saw a lot of 
immigration officials. I saw other officials, “GEO guards,” there and then they registered 
us and checked to see what we had even though they had already checked us. Afterwards, 
they made us shower.  

5. They gave us two changes of clothes.  
6. I was shocked. I tried to ask why I was there and nobody would give me any information.  
7. I tried to stay positive and thought they were helping me by giving me clothes and a 

shower. I thought maybe we would be waiting a while at the bus station and that’s why 
they were being nice and doing this. I did not expect this. 

8. I never let my son go. I was always holding his hand and I did not let them separate him 
from me.  

9. I was terrified. I tried to be positive, but at the same time I thought I was being kidnaped. 
I thought, “Maybe this isn’t immigration.” But I had no idea what was going on. I tried to 
be positive, but I was also very afraid.  

10. I couldn’t see outside, the cars, all I could see were the walls and wires, and a lot of 
cameras all over.  

11. They gave us our room number and guided us to the room. When I entered the room is 
when I began to feel very scared. This time, I really thought I was being kidnaped.  

12. They put us in a room and told us where our bed was. There were eight beds in one room. 
We had other companions. We asked each other what was going on and many cried out 
of fear. Some tried to console us.  

13. They didn’t know what was going on either. Some started to cry because they didn’t 
know where we were. We were panicking. We were the first group to get there the first 
ones on the bus.  



14.  Nobody explained what was going on. There were several guards watching us and I 
asked the guards why we were there and all they said was to ask immigration. They said 
they were just doing their job.  

15. The guards were very tough on us. They never gave us explanations. At night, they 
knocked loudly and opened the doors very rough during the headcount at nights. They 
just banged on the doors and yelled at us to get up for check up.  

16. The guards gave us a sheet of the rules but didn’t explain what they were. They didn’t let 
us know if we were getting out.  

17. It was very sad.  
18. There was a schedule. They woke us up at 7am to eat. They gave us something that 

looked like a burger and milk. And that’s all we ate in the morning. At midday we got 
beans. But the beans were not always good. Sometimes they were very disgusting. They 
tasted rotten. The food was horrible, honestly. Sometimes there were worms in the beans 
and rice. But they never believed us. They said we were making things up. But we always 
respected food. We would never do such a thing. The food was horrible. We also had 
rice. Sometimes they made pizza. But the pizza was mainly bread and didn’t have a lot of 
cheese.  

19. A week passed and I thought I was kidnapped. They never gave us information. They 
never told us anything. We only ate and we followed the rules.  

20. When a week passed I asked an official and he told me that I was getting out soon, not to 
worry. Another official asked me what was I doing here? He said, “Why don’t you go 
back to your country. You’re never getting out of here.” He would confuse us all the 
time. In the end we never knew what was going on.  

21. 15 days passed, a month, people were getting sick, they weren’t eating. The kids were 
fainting. Many kids were fainting. Even the mothers were fainting. There was no medical 
attention. There was a medic, but when you went to see him and told him what was 
wrong all he said was to drink water and it would go away.  

22. The water was Clorox. That’s what it tasted and looked like.  
23. Many children and adults had stomachaches. They had fevers. So many things happened.  
24. When we complained at the medic he made us deal with the pain and never helped us. 

When he would check us he told us to drink water.  
25. There were so many tings that happened in detention.  
26. We were like about a month or so locked inside. I don’t know exactly how long it was 

because I couldn’t tell time. But it seemed like forever that we couldn’t go outside. We 
just went to get checked at 7am, again 4pm, at 8pm, and at 1am. They would check us at 
night as well.  Everyone was locked in his or her rooms. We weren’t allowed to go 
outside to enjoy the sun or go to the park, and we didn’t know why we weren’t allowed, 
they just didn’t let us.  

27. The nights were very sad. The cover was very thin. Just two thin covers for my son and 
me. And it was extremely cold.  

28. We had a bunk bed but since they were so small so I was afraid my son would fall from 
the top because it had no protector. Even adults fell. Many children and mothers fell and 
fractured themselves. Even if you turned you could fall off. The beds were so small.  

29. We slept together I slept on the edge and I rested on the ladder so I wouldn’t fall of. It 
was very tight and we used both blankets so we could warm up because it was too cold.  



30. As the months went by I was very sad and we didn’t want to be there anymore. Until one 
day the official came and told me I had to do the interview.  

31. Like I said I knew what an interview was, but they never explained that I could have a 
lawyer. If they would’ve told me I could have searched for a lawyer to help me in the 
interview.  

32. They didn’t speak my language and I spoke Mam more than Spanish. There were many 
words that they told me that I did not understand. The man spoke English and he would 
talk to the phone and the phone would talk to me in Spanish.  

33. My claim was denied. They never told me why. They just gave me a sheet and a friend 
helped me. She knew Spanish and she told me my case was negative. The paper they 
gave me was in English. My friend put it together and it said it was negative.  

34. I got very sad. If my case was negative, then what was going to happen to me? I was very 
afraid of going back to my country. I didn’t want to go back. Which is why I keep 
fighting.  

35. Four months passed, and I needed to go see the judge to tell me if I would be deported. 
By then I knew I could get a lawyer and the lawyer helped me.  

36. The judge gave me a bond for ten thousand dollars. But I didn’t have any money to pay 
it.  

37. I appealed the case but it was negative again.  
38. It was very sad. Very sad. But I told immigration that I didn’t want to be deported. I 

preferred being there than to go back out of fear that something would happen to my son. 
It’s one thing for something to happen to me, but my son is my only family and he’s what 
keeps me going, I want to keep him safe. I would have rather lived in those conditions 
than to be deported. 

39. Immigration would make me feel bad. They laughed at me and told me I didn’t have 
anything to do here in the U.S. they told me to leave. Many times they made fun of me. 

40. The food never changed.  
41. I participated in the hunger strike to change the nutrition and to be heard, because it had 

already been a long time without medial attention or good food, children were getting 
sick, we had been there a long time, and bonds were way too high for us. So I 
participated in the strike so that our voices would be heard.  

42. When they found out, the newspapers, in Washington, an official in uniform came to 
investigate. They knew what day the officials from Washington were coming to 
investigate so the guards gave us stuffed animals, they cooked, they made more coffee, 
they put table covers on the tables, they gave us more food. Normally, they only gave us 
two tacos, but when the investigators were there they asked us if we wanted more. But 
once the investigators left and we would ask for more, they would tell us we couldn’t 
have any more food. So we stayed hungry. They even had games at the park. It was 
incredible.  

43. When the investigators left the GEO guards went around with a bag to pick up all the 
stuffed animals they had given the kids. We didn’t keep anything. It was not only that 
day. Every time the investigators came they put out all the things they did before, but 
would always take it away again.  

44. The kitchen was full of flies and there was no disinfectant to clean. There were swarms of 
flies. You had to keep swapping them away from your food when you tried to eat. It was 



disgusting. They cleaned the tables with dirty water. They didn’t even try to disinfect the 
tables.  

45. There was a store to buy chips or sodas that we could buy; they told us we could buy 
food at the little store. They told us we could work so we could buy food. I worked three 
hours. They gave me three dollars for three hours. The worked was hard. I had to scrub 
the floor with my hand. I didn’t have an object to clean the floor. The manager made us 
scrub with our hands. Block by block. That’s how we worked to get money so our 
children could eat.  

46. My son bled many times from his nose and he would vomit. Every time he went to the 
kitchen he returned with diarrhea and vomit. He always had stomach pain.  

47. I tell my friends that I still communicate with, that I wish someone should sneak in a cell 
phone and record everything that happens to show the judge and they could believe us. 
Nobody believes us when we say what happens.  

48. There was a woman who was held in a room for a month. They called her crazy and 
didn’t let her leave. There was only one window and that’s how we could try to talk to 
her; through the glass. They just gave her food but never let her leave.  

49. They locked the people in the medical room.  
50. During the strike they punished us. Immigration officials took away our jobs and we 

didn’t get three dollars anymore. They threatened us and put us inside and asked us why 
we were on strike and said we didn’t have the right to do it and we didn’t have rights for 
anything. They said that we should go back to our country. That they were going to take 
away our children and they were going to put us in jail.  

51. I would tremble and I would hide behind my friend because I was so afraid. Immigration 
was so mad at us for participating in the strike. They punished us by locking us up in the 
medical room.  

52. There were so many things that happened in detention. The guards would yell at us, and 
curse at us.  

53. It was horrible. They make you feel worthless. Dogs are treated better. My son would tell 
me that if we were dogs we could be treated better than we were.  

54. It was very sad.  
55. They gave me three reports because I broke the rules. I was consoling a friend because 

she was going to be deported. She was going to leave in the middle of the night. She was 
very sad and didn’t want to be deported. She asked if her daughter could stay because she 
didn’t want anything to happen to her. Officials found me consoling her and they got 
mad. They told us we shouldn’t be with her, we should be in our rooms, they yelled at 
me. They were very rude.  

56. They lied to us all the time. They would tell some people to go to medical to get 
treatment but they would never come back. They tricked them and they would be 
deported instead of going to see the medic.  

57. I was scared of going to medical. I would suffer and deal with the pain. They never even 
helped. Even when my son would get fever, or stomachaches, I would try to put cold rags 
on him instead.  

58. I was afraid to see immigration because I thought they would deport me just like that.  
59. Due to lack of medical attention a female had a miscarriage. We saw when she started 

bleeding. They put her in medical. My friend who was cleaning the room said she 
miscarried the baby. She was afraid of telling anyone for fear of being deported. She had 



complained of stomach pain for three days and when she went to medical they never did 
anything to help her. When we saw the blood we called the guards and they took her. She 
miscarried because she didn’t get the attention she needed.  

60. We lived in fear. There were so many things that happened and I didn’t speak up out of 
fear that I would be deported or locked in the medical room 

61. I was very afraid. I always felt like I was kidnaped.  
62. All this time I wish I had sneaked in a cell phone to record everything that happened. 

Nobody knows what goes on, and nobody hears us and nobody believes us.  
63. Why is it so hard to believe us? Why are these places still open? 
64. It’s so sad to see the people crying, locked up all the time.  
65. Children would cry all the time.  
66. There was a guard that was very mean. She was mean on purpose. She would bring food, 

and open snacks and juice in front of us just to rub it in our faces. The children would 
want some of what she had and she would get mad at the kids and be mean to them. She 
yelled at the kids and would tell them to go back to their country. She asked what they 
were doing here. She was always saying mean something to someone.  

67. There were so many mean guards.  
68. Karnes is the worst detention. So many rules from immigration and GEO. The 

malnutrition. It was too much for us.  
69. We checked our boxes every week and they would check what we had. Some people that 

were deported or left would give us some of their things, and the guards would take it 
away from us. They didn’t let us have anything. They would count all the clothes we had 
and not allow us to keep anything else.  

70. What I want to add is that I hope the president or the judge allows someone to go in with 
a camera to record what happens. To have evidence. But it needs to be hidden cameras so 
that no one knows so they can see that what happens is real. If they know, they will make 
themselves look good like before. 

71. It’s not fair that these types of jails exist. We are not criminals to be jailed in this manner. 
We don’t deserve to suffer this way. Especially the children.  
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December 10, 2015 
 

Megan Mack 
Office of Civil Rights and Civil Liberties  
Department of Homeland Security 
Washington, DC 20528 
 
John Roth 
Office of Inspector General 
Department of Homeland Security 
Washington, DC 20528 

 
 Re:  Family Detention – Challenges Faced by Indigenous Language Speakers 
 
Dear Ms. Mack and Mr. Roth: 
 

We write to share our collective concerns regarding the challenges that indigenous 
language-speaking mothers and children in family detention centers face in procuring access to 
justice. These challenges include: (1) inadequate screening at the border and within family 
detention centers; (2) a lack of interpreting assistance for other interactions with government 
officials, subcontractors (including medical staff) and service providers; and (3) a lack of 
translated written materials. Our concerns are broken down by interaction with each agency that 
these mothers and children encounter: U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP), U.S. 
Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE), and U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services 
(USCIS). 
 

Since April 2015, the CARA Family Detention Pro Bono Project (“CARA Project” or 
“CARA”)1 has provided legal counsel and representation to several hundred indigenous mothers 
and children detained at the South Texas Family Residential Center (STFRC) in Dilley, Texas 
and the Karnes County Residential Center in Karnes City, Texas. In preparing this complaint, the 
CARA Project identified over 250 indigenous families represented by the Project staff and 
volunteers in the Dilley and Karnes detention centers.  
 
  

                                                
1 The CARA Family Detention Pro Bono Project is a partnership of four organizations: Catholic Legal Immigration 
Network, Inc.(CLINIC), American Immigration Lawyers Association (AILA), Refugee and Immigrant Center for 
Education and Legal Services (RAICES), and the American Immigration Council (Council). 
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Background  
 

A significant number of families seeking protection at the U.S. border with Mexico speak 
indigenous languages. The over 250 indigenous language speaking families represented by the 
CARA Project since April 2015, who are primarily from Guatemala, speak variations of 
Akateco, Kanjobal, Quiche, Kekchi, Mam, Maya, Popti, Achi, Garifuna, Kaqchikel, Chuj, Ixil, 
Lenca, and other Mayan languages.   
 

Indigenous peoples are among Central America’s most vulnerable, impoverished, and 
illiterate citizens.2  Indigenous women, in particular, have less access to education and are less 
likely to work outside the home than their male counterparts; as a consequence, indigenous 
women are less likely than indigenous men to be proficient in Spanish.3 
 

The U.S. government is obligated to ensure that indigenous language speakers have 
meaningful access to federal programs and activities.4 CBP, ICE, and USCIS, in coordination 
with CRCL, have each developed their own individual plans to accommodate limited English 
proficient (LEP) individuals.5 Despite the existence of such plans, the Government 
Accountability Office criticized DHS’s LEP engagement in 2010.6 To date, these agencies’ LEP 
plans remain inadequate and the implementation of those plans, which do not even provide 
minimal protection for non-English speakers, remains incomplete.7 

                                                
2
 Kelly Hallman et al., Indigenous Girls in Guatemala: Poverty and Location, in EXCLUSION, GENDER AND 

SCHOOLING: CASE STUDIES FROM THE DEVELOPING WORLD, ed. Maureen A. Lewis and Marlaine E. Lockheed 146 

(Washington, DC: Center for Global Development, 2007); Luis Enrique Lopez, Reaching the Unreached: 

Indigenous Intercultural Bilingual Education in Latin America,UNITED NATIONS EDUCATIONAL, SCIENTIFIC, AND 

CULTURAL ORGANIZATION 4 (2010); see also Caracterizatión Sociolinguística y Cultural de Comunidades y 

Escuales, Gobierno de Guatemala, Ministerio de Educación, 10-11 (2015), available at 

http://www.mineduc.gob.gt/DIGEBI/documents/Investigaci%C3%B3n/PRESENTACI%C3%93N_RESULTADOS

_CARACTERIZACI%C3%93N_2010_a_2014.pdf  (showing that based on a 2010-2014 national survey of 60% of 

schools in Guatemala, 64% of indigenous students are monolingual or non-Spanish speaking)(last visited Nov. 25, 

2015). 
3
See e.g. Indigenous Women & U.N. System Good Practices & Lessons Learned, Secretariat of Permanent Forum 

on Indigenous Issues for Taskforce on Indigenous Women/Interagency Network on Women and Gender Equality, 
chp 3, (2007); Hallman, supra note 3, at 146.  
4 42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq. (prohibiting discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any program or 
activity that receives federal financial assistance); Executive Order 13166 Improving Access To Services For 
Persons With Limited English Proficiency, http://www.lep.gov/13166/eo13166.html (last visited Nov. 25, 2015) 
(requiring each federal agency to “examine the services it provides and develop and implement a system by which 
LEP persons can meaningfully access those services consistent with, and without unduly burdening the fundamental 
mission of the agency.”).  See also Lau v. Nichols, 414 U.S. 563, 569 (1974) (interpreting “national origin 
discrimination” to include failure to provide information in languages other than English to persons with limited 
English proficiency).  
5 For links to federal agency LEP guidance documents and language access plans, see Federal Agency LEP 
Guidance, http://www.lep.gov/guidance/guidance_Fed_Guidance.html#DHS (last visited Dec. 10, 2015).   
6See DHS Needs to Comprehensively Assess Its Foreign Language Needs and Capabilities and Identify Shortfalls,  
GAO Report to the Subcommittee on Oversight of Government Management, the Federal Workforce, and the 
District of Columbia, Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs, U.S. Senate, 2010, pgs. 32, 40, 
41.http://www.gao.gov/assets/310/305850.pdf  (last visited Nov. 16, 2015). 
7See e.g. Blake Gentry, Exclusion of Indigenous Language Speaking Immigrants in the U.S. Immigration System, A 
Technical Review (2015) available at 
http://www.amaconsultants.org/uploads/Exclusion_of_Indigenous%20Languages_in_US_Immigration_System_19_
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U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP) 
 
Misidentification of indigenous women as Spanish speakers 

 
CARA Project staff and volunteers regularly conduct intake interviews with mothers and 

children detained at the family detention centers in Dilley and Karnes. During those intake 
interviews, we review a family’s immigration documents and discuss the circumstances of their 
entries into the United States. These interviews have revealed that CBP agents routinely 
misidentify indigenous women’s primary language as Spanish and incorrectly report that 
indigenous women understood interrogations conducted in Spanish.  Moreover, CBP officials 
routinely record admissions allegedly made by indigenous women who could not possibly have 
understood questions asked in Spanish – statements that can undermine their ability to obtain 
relief in the United States.  As discussed further below, this misinformation has, in some cases, 
resulted in the erroneous removal of bona fide asylum seekers.  
 
Lack of written materials in indigenous languages 
 

While DHS’s Language Access Plan (LAP) obligates it to “translate crucial documents 
into the most frequently encountered languages,”8 CBP officers only have materials in four 
indigenous languages (Kanjobal, Quiche, Kachiquel, and Mam),9 making it virtually impossible 
for them to communicate with speakers of over twenty-five other regional languages including 
Q’eqchi and Yucatec Maya (the second and third most commonly spoken indigenous languages 
in the region). Notably, CBP’s own Limited English Proficiency plan makes no mention of any 
materials being available in indigenous languages.10 Consequently, during their first interaction 
with the U.S. government, many indigenous language speakers do not receive written materials 
that they can understand. Additionally, many of the written materials currently utilized by CBP, 
including the “I Speak” series, do not account for educational norms of indigenous language 
speakers, many of whom do not read or write their language.11 
 
Erroneous deportations of indigenous mothers and children who are unable to 
communicate their fear to officials. 
 

CBP’s failure to correctly identify the primary language spoken by indigenous asylum 
seekers, along with its practice of conducting interrogations in a language these women do not 
fully understand, has led to the erroneous deportation of families seeking protection in the United 
States, returning them to life-threatening situations in their home countries.  
 
                                                                                                                                                       
June2015version_i.pdf (last visited Nov. 16, 2015) [Hereinafter “Exclusion of Indigenous Language Speaking 
Immigrants”]. 
8U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Language Access Plan, 3 (Feb. 28, 2012), available at 
http://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/crcl-dhs-language-access-plan.pdf (last visited Dec. 5, 2015). 
9See e.g., Exclusion of Indigenous Language Speaking Immigrants at 13.  
10See U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Customs and Border Protection, Draft Language Access Plan (Sept. 
2014), available at https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/draft-cbp-lep-plan_0.pdf (last visited Nov. 
25, 2015).  
11See Exclusion of Indigenous Language Speaking Immigrants at 8. 
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For example, CARA Project client Inez never told CBP agents she was afraid to return to 
Guatemala because officials never asked her this question in a language she understood. An 
indigenous speaker of Akateco, Inez was detained for twenty days in September 2005.  Not once 
in those twenty days did a CBP official or interpreter speak to her in Akateco, her primary 
language. As Inez reported to CARA in a sworn statement, CBP officials instead spoke to her 
only in Spanish.  Not one CBP official told her she could ask for an Akateco interpreter, and she 
was never interviewed about the circumstances that led her to flee Guatemala. After twenty days, 
Inez was summarily deported. 

 
In 2015, when Inez was forced to return to the U.S. because she faced gender-based 

threats, the language access issues affected not only her, but her children who were detained 
alongside their mother at the Dilley detention center.12When Inez re-entered the United States, 
her prior removal order was reinstated.  Although she passed her reasonable fear interview and 
thus became eligible for withholding of removal, current U.S. policy categorically denies 
eligibility for asylum to individuals subject to reinstatement.  This policy is problematic for a 
number of reasons. Asylee status, unlike withholding of removal, which is the only relief 
available through the reasonable fear process, allows for family reunification, social services, 
and financial assistance for a temporary period, along with a path to permanent residence and 
eventually, U.S. citizenship. Many women are forced to flee their home countries without all of 
their children, and those who receive withholding rather than asylum may face lifelong 
separation from the children left behind in the country of origin. 

 
Another mother, CARA Project client Mabelle, a Kanjobal speaker from Guatemala, was 

able to communicate only her name and country of origin in Spanish when CBP apprehended her 
at the border in October 2015. However, CBP officials proceeded to interview her, incorrectly 
transcribed the interview, and concluded that she had no fear of return to Guatemala. After being 
in CBP custody for three days and two nights, Mabelle and her daughter Sara were taken to the 
Dilley detention center. 
 
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) 
 
Inconsistent access to indigenous-language interpreters and failure to translate written 
documents into indigenous languages   
 

Without consistent access to interpreters and translations of written documents, detained 
indigenous mothers are forced to communicate in poorly-understood Spanish or to pantomime 
with ICE officials, other detention personnel, and medical staff charged with their family’s 
physical well-being. Moreover, their children do not understand the classes taught at the centers’ 
schools. Such language barriers cause confusion, intensify suffering, and may prolong these 
families’ stay in the detention centers, which can harm them both physically and emotionally.13 
Linguistically speaking, these women and children live in virtual solitary confinement.   
                                                
12Other women like Inez often return to the U.S. within days, weeks, or months of their deportation due to the 
continuing life-threatening situations in their home countries. After a second (or third) interaction with CBP proves 
more productive, their prior removal orders are generally reinstated.  See 8 U.S.C. § 1231(a)(5). 
13The American Immigration Council, the American Immigration Lawyers Association, and the Women’s Refugee 
Commission filed a complaint on June 30, 2015, detailing the negative mental health ramifications of detention for 
both mothers and children fleeing violence in Central America. American Association of Pediatrics letter to DHS 
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Elana’s story is emblematic of this problem. When Elana and her two-year-old son first 

arrived at the Dilley detention center after being detained on August 26, 2015, she informed 
officials that she spoke Mam, an indigenous Mayan language spoken by half a million 
Guatemalans, and that her religion was Mam.  But during the three weeks that she and her two-
year-old son spent in detention, neither ICE nor Corrections Corporations of America (CCA) (the 
private prison contractor operating the Dilley detention center) staff communicated with her in 
Mam.  ICE never found a Mam interpreter for Elana or gave her any documents written in Mam.  
Instead, ICE officers explained the immigration process to her in Spanish, which she could 
barely understand.  She communicated with her deportation officer largely through pantomime.  
ICE officials, in turn, did not understand Elana when she asked them in Mam for her 
immigration documents, and so she went without this important paperwork for days. This delay 
impeded her attorney’s ability to represent her and extended her time in detention. 

 
Even when interpretation is available, indigenous language speakers are often detained 

longer than Spanish speakers.  Noemi and her eleven-year-old child were detained at the Karnes 
detention center in late September 2015. After this, she was given a credible fear interview in her 
native language, K’iche. However, she had to wait longer for the results than her Spanish-
speaking counterparts. When ICE finally called Noemi into a meeting to discuss the positive 
results of her interview and the terms and conditions of her release, no interpretation was 
available. Consequently, the meeting was adjourned and she was forced to wait five additional 
days, until interpretation became available, for the results of her credible fear interview.  
 

In some instances, CARA Project staff and volunteers witnessed or received reports of 
the use of children or other residents in communications between ICE or CCA officials and 
detained indigenous language speakers. Of course, such interpretation in the context of 
individuals applying for asylum, withholding of removal, or protection under Convention 
Against Torture are completely inappropriate. Mothers resist sharing details of abuse, torture, 
sexual assaults, and humiliation with their children; children and teenagers withhold such 
information from their parents. It is also possible that members of one family may be, or have 
been, involved in the persecution of another family’s members, who are detained in the same 
ICE detention center. Confidentiality must be an essential aspect of claims for asylum or related 
claims for refugee status.14 Although USCIS has made very clear that family members or friends 
will be used as interpreters only as a very last resort, this arrangement is very problematic.  If no 
other interpreter is available, DHS should issue Notices to Appear rather than subjecting these 
families to the expedited removal process without adequate interpretation.  
 
Additional barriers in accessing medical treatment 
 

                                                                                                                                                       
Secretary Jeh Johnson, July 24, 2015, available at https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/federal-
advocacy/Documents/AAP%20Letter%20to%20Secretary%20Johnson%20Family%20Detention%20Final.pdf (last 
visited Dec 7, 2015); Luis Zayas and Aimee Miller, Special to the Statesman, Immigrant Detention Centers Harm 
Childrens’ Mental Health, The Statesman (Aug. 13, 2015), available at 
http://www.statesman.com/news/news/opinion/immigrant-dentention-centers-harm-childrens-mental/nnJQp/ (last 
visited Nov. 11, 2015).  
14See 8 C.F.R. § 1208.6(a). 
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Indigenous women and children have sometimes had difficulty communicating their 
symptoms to medical personnel and understanding prescriptions or medical instructions. Access 
to medical care in family detention centers is already inadequate,15 and these problems are 
compounded with indigenous families because few medical staff speak indigenous languages. 
 

Elana and her toddler son were detained at the Dilley detention center from August 26 to 
September 14, 2015. When she brought her toddler son to Dilley’s medical center, medical staff 
conducted her and her toddler son’s medical check-ups in Spanish, a language that neither of 
them understood. The staff administered five shots to Elana’s son without her consent, 
explaining the name and purpose of these vaccinations only in Spanish. On a separate occasion, 
when Elana went to the clinic to ask if her son was sick, the staff responded in Spanish that her 
son was fine; if they offered any more details, she did not understand them.   

 
Noemi, a woman detained at the Karnes detention center from late September until mid-

November 2015, was never provided a K’iche interpreter and relied entirely on her eleven-year-
old son to interpret her conversations with the medical staff. Noemi had her blood drawn upon 
entering Karnes and was later told that the medical staff needed to draw her blood again, but she 
never understood why. The medical staff also explained, through her son, that he needed to be 
vaccinated. Again, Noemi did not understand why. Without proper interpretation, Noemi was 
unable to fully consent to these medical procedures for herself or her son.  
 

Finally, meaningful access to mental health care is unavailable for indigenous women 
and children. Indigenous families are especially likely to be suffering from Post-Traumatic Stress 
Disorder (PTSD) or other mental illnesses as a result of trauma in their home countries and 
ongoing trauma in detention where they are severely isolated.16 For example, Carolina, who was 
detained at the Dilley detention center from February 22, 2015 to August 1, 2015, an extremely 
long time as a result of language-related delays, suffered from clinical depression as a result of 
the prolonged period she spent in detention.  
 
Denial of educational opportunities  
 

Children in immigration detention are entitled to education.17 However, current practices 
within family detention centers for ensuring indigenous language-speaking children access to 
education are unevenly implemented and contradict ICE’s own policies. ICE’s Family 
Residential Standards require that all children who are detained and eligible for educational 
                                                
15The CARA Project has previously filed two complaints, on behalf of thirty-two immigrant families detained at 
Dilley, Karnes and Berks, County, PA, highlighting concerns regarding inadequate medical care at all three 
facilities, one on July 30, 2015, available at http://www.aila.org/advo-media/press-releases/2015/deplorable-
medical-treatment-at-fam-detention-ctrs, and October 6, 2015, available at http://www.aila.org/advo-media/press-
releases/2015/crcl-complaint-family-detention.  
16See e.g. K.  O’Connor, C.Thomas-Duckwitz, G  Nuñez--Mchiri,No Safe Haven Here: Mental Health Assessment 
of Women and Children Held in U.S. Immigration Detention, Unitarian Universalist Service Committee, October 
2015, available 
at  http://www.uusc.org/sites/default/files/mental_health_assessment_of_women_and_children_u.s._immigration_de
tention.pdf (last visited Nov. 25 2015).  
17See Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202 (1982)(states cannot constitutionally deny children a free public education on 
account of their immigration status); see also Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292, 298 (1993)(mandating detention 
facilities provide services that comply with child welfare standards, including education).  
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services receive an individual educational needs assessment within three days of arrival at the 
detention center.18 The individual needs assessment must be provided in the child’s primary 
language. If an interviewer is not conversant in the language, an interpreter and telephonic 
services must be used.19 Additionally, linguistically appropriate educational materials should be 
provided for the children.20Despite all this, however, education provided at the family detention 
centers is conducted only in English and Spanish, leaving indigenous children confused and 
without any meaningful educational opportunities.  
 

For example, Inez attested that her children “do not know very much Spanish and even 
less English . . . [but] all of their schooling [in detention] is in Spanish.” In Guatemala, Inez’s 
children attended school in their native language, Akateco, with just one hour of Spanish 
instruction each day.  As a result at the STFRC, Inez explained that it was, “very difficult for 
them to learn.” While detained, Inez posited, “Maybe they are learning. But I don’t know 
because they aren’t able to answer anything because nothing is in our language.” 

 
Ariela is an Akateco-speaking mother from Guatemala who was detained at the Dilley 

detention center with her six-year-old son from September 20, 2015 to October 31, 2015. During 
that almost six-week period, her son struggled in school. He spoke no Spanish, and his mother 
was not even able to explain what he did in the school at the STFRC.  
 
Failure to explain conditions of release, including ankle monitors 

 
The documents that indigenous families receive upon release are often in English and 

occasionally in Spanish. These documents include technical legal language incomprehensible 
even to some attorneys.21As a result, indigenous families stand little chance of understanding that 
they must charge their electronic ankle monitors, how to go about charging the monitors, how 
long they will have to wear the ankle monitors, and the consequences of an accidental violation 
of ankle monitor policy.  

 
In late October 2015, for example, Alvera, a Quiche-speaking mother from Guatemala 

held at the Dilley detention center with her seven-year-old daughter, unknowingly signed papers 
consenting to release on an electronic ankle monitor. Around 9 pm, four ICE officials called 
Alvera, along with eight or nine other women, into a playroom. There, they explained to Alvera 
and the other women, including one Mam speaker who also did not understand Spanish, that they 
had to sign papers in order to leave. Alvera felt confused and scared and did not know what she 
was signing. However, anxious to be released from detention with her child, she signed the 
papers anyway. Alvera later learned that by signing the papers, she had inadvertently consented 
to wear an ankle monitor. Since her release, Alvera has worried that people in her community 
will think that she is a criminal. Because she did not understand her options, she never had an 
opportunity to exercise her right to a bond hearing before an immigration judge in lieu of 
accepting release on an ankle monitor.  
                                                
18 See ICE Family Residential Standards, Education Plan at IV. 2. (a) https://www.ice.gov/doclib/dro/family-
residential/pdf/rs_educational_policy.pdf. 
19Id. at IV 2 (e). 
20Id. at IV 4 (b). 
21 Advocates raised this issue at the August 28, 2015, White House Office of Public Engagement Access to Counsel 
Stakeholder Meeting for unaccompanied minors and families.  
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U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS) 
 
Lack of interpretation or inadequate interpretation during interviews with asylum officers 
 

Asylum officers sometimes interview indigenous language-speaking mothers in Spanish. 
In some cases, this occurs because CBP misidentified a woman as Spanish-speaking and ICE 
never corrected the error. In other cases, it occurs despite a woman having been correctly 
classified as an indigenous language speaker. Mothers are presented with the choice of 
proceeding with an asylum interview in Spanish or waiting in detention with their children, 
potentially for several weeks, so that the asylum office can secure an appropriate interpreter. 
Faced with this choice, many mothers proceed with the interview, which — predictably — often 
results in a negative credible or reasonable fear determination. Where a Judge affirms a negative 
determination in a case involving an indigenous language speaker who did not have an 
interpreter, the CARA Project generally submits a request for reconsideration and re-interview 
with USCIS. The results of such re-interviews, with appropriate interpretation, are 
overwhelmingly positive. Nonetheless, the effect of this process is to extend the time a family 
spends in detention.  

 
Some indigenous families never receive credible or reasonable fear interviews because 

USCIS cannot find qualified interpreters. For example, Catherin, a Kanjobal speaker from 
Guatemala, was detained at the Dilley detention center with her fourteen-year-old son from 
October 25 to November 7, 2015, and then released with a Notice to Appear without ever being 
interviewed. Similarly, Mabelle, another Guatemalan Kanjobal speaker, was detained on 
October 10, 2015, with her four-year-old child and waited more than two weeks at the Dilley 
detention center before DHS issued a Notice to Appear, which prompted their release. Another 
mother, Nathalia, a Quiche speaker from Guatemala, was detained at the Dilley detention center 
with her seven-year-old child from October 18 to November 1, 2015, without ever undergoing a 
credible or reasonable fear interview. A Mam-speaking mother from Guatemala, Rosa, was 
detained at the Dilley detention center with her two-year-old son from September 22 to October 
23, 2015. DHS took more than a month to issue a Notice to Appear and never secured an 
interpreter for the credible fear interview.  

 
Other families move forward with a credible or reasonable fear interview with inadequate 

interpretation. One father, John, detained at the Berks detention center since September 8, 2015 
with his one-year-old daughter, is an Achi speaker from Guatemala. The asylum office 
conducted John’s credible fear interview in Quiche, rather than Achi, although the relevant 
documentation indicates that it was conducted in Spanish. Unable to properly communicate his 
fear of return, John received a negative determination. He was unrepresented until October 27 
2015, when the immigration judge who reviewed his case asked an attorney for another detainee 
if she would represent John. At this hearing, once again, a Quiche interpreter was provided. The 
immigration judge did not rule on the case because the Record of Determination/Credible Fear 
Worksheet (Form I-870) from the asylum office did not include the proper legal analysis. Thus, 
this family remains in legal limbo while the immigration judge awaits additional paperwork from 
the asylum office. Meanwhile, John’s pregnant wife, who speaks very little Spanish, is detained 
at the El Paso processing center, where she faces similar language barriers. 
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A very recent example of inadequate interpretation comes from another CARA Project 

client who, as of this writing, is detained at the Dilley detention center with her four children, 
ages four, five, nine, and thirteen. Eliana, ia Guatemalan Mam-speaking mother, and her 
children have been detained for more than a month, since November 6, 2015. Eliana's credible 
fear interview on November 18, 2015, lasted for four hours. The first two hours were spent on 
introductions because the asylum officer spoke to a telephonic Spanish speaker, who in turn 
spoke to a Mam interpreter, who then communicated with Eliana. The interview transcript 
revealed clear communication difficulties, including multiple occasions when Eliana asked for a 
different interpreter because she could not understand the dialect of Mam that the interpreter was 
using. Eliana explained that she only understood “some words,” and her interpreted answers 
were often awkward or disjointed, strongly suggesting miscommunication in both directions. At 
two points of the interview, the interpreter service was disconnected, first for twenty minutes and 
then for five minutes. The asylum officer also interviewed Eliana's eldest child, who also said he 
did not understand the Mam dialect used by the interpreter. Although this family is genuinely 
afraid of being returned to Guatemala where they face gang violence, they have been unable to 
articulate their fear due to inadequate interpretation. Eliana's request for a re-interview has 
been denied, and she is scheduled for deportation on Friday December 10, 2015. This is the 
second time that Eliana has unsuccessfully sought protection in the United States; she first fled to 
the U.S. in 2013, but was deported because she was similarly unable to express her fear of return 
to Guatemala due to inadequate interpretation.  

 
Other cases are delayed at different points in the system. Claudia, a Quecha speaker from 

Peru, was first detained with her nine-year-old daughter on September 29, 2015 and held at the 
Dilley detention center. Although she had her credible fear interview on October 7, 2015, her 
immigration judge review was not scheduled until October 27, 2015. The immigration judge 
quickly vacated the asylum officer’s negative credible fear determination.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
The following recommendations are intended to address the problems described above. 
DHS should: 
 

(1) Provide qualified interpreters for all indigenous language speakers, either by phone or 
in person, at the time of apprehension and during any period of detention. 

(2) Provide translations of written materials that are reflective of literacy and education 
levels in the following languages: Akateco, Kanjobal, Quiche, Kekchi, Mam, Maya, 
Popti, Achi, Garifuna, Kaqchikel, Chuj, Ixil, and Lenca. Undertake a comprehensive 
review of the availability of interpreters in the above-referenced languages. 

(3) Appoint counsel for indigenous language speakers who would otherwise be 
unrepresented at any stage of the removal process. 

(4) Indigenous language speakers identified at apprehension should be immediately 
released with a Notice to Appear. Families released by CBP should be given clear 
instructions on when and where to appear in court.  

(5) Where indigenous language speakers have been issued in absentia removal orders, 
DHS should move to reopen those orders.  

AILA InfoNet Doc. 15121011.  (Posted 12/10/15)



10 
 

(6) End the inhumane and problematic practice of detaining immigrant children and their 
mothers, which would resolve many of the problems described in this document. 

 
Given the pervasive and troubling concerns highlighted in this complaint, we urge your offices to 
undertake swift and comprehensive reviews of the language access policies for indigenous 
language speakers held in family detention centers. While modifications and improvements to 
the current system of detaining families are urgently needed, nothing in this complaint should be 
read to undermine our longstanding position that there is no humane way to detain children and 
their families.  
 
Karen S. Lucas 
American Immigration Lawyers Association 
 
Lindsay M. Harris 
American Immigration Council  
 
Amy Fischer 
Refugee and Immigrant Center for Education and Legal Services  
 
Ashley Feasley 
Catholic Legal Immigration Network  
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Complainant #1: “Jessica”1 Jessica is a 29-year-old mother of two who fled Honduras after the 
M-18 gang targeted her as a woman living without a male protector. Jessica and her two 
children, ages 4 and 6, received the varicella vaccination approximately five days after arriving 
at Dilley. When Jessica advised medical staff that her children had already received the varicella 
vaccination in Honduras, she was told that everyone detained at the facility had to get the 
vaccination. On July 1 or 2, two officials woke Jessica and her young children at 4:30 am and 
told them to go to the chapel for a medical appointment at 5 am, where they waited for two hours 
before being seen. Jessica took her children’s vaccination cards with her to show the officials 
that their vaccinations were current. A uniformed official told Jessica that her children were still 
missing vaccinations, although he did not specify which vaccinations needed to be administered. 
Shortly afterward, women wearing white gave Jessica’s son and daughter vaccinations, but did 
not tell her which ones or provide any documentation containing that information.  The next day, 
around 5:30 am, two officials woke the family and asked if the children had any fever or other 
problems. After Jessica indicated that the children were fine, the officials left.  

When Jessica was forced to flee Honduras, she had been recently diagnosed with breast cancer. 
At Dilley, Jessica went to the clinic to try to speak to a doctor about her medical concerns. After 
waiting for five hours, in pain, in a cold room, clinic staff told Jessica that the doctors were there 
to see the children and there was nobody there to see her. She did not receive any pain 
medications. That night, a staff member told Jessica that a specialist would attend to her the next 
day. The following day, Jessica inquired at the medical clinic about the specialist, but an officer 
and a nurse confirmed that there was no specialist and sent her back to her room without any 
medicine. The next day Jessica had a headache so painful that she was vomiting, but having lost 
hope in the clinic, she decided not to return to attempt to seek treatment because she did not want 
to wait in the cold room and be turned away again. Jessica later suffered from vomiting for nine 
days, non-stop. When she first started vomiting, she waited to see the doctor for six hours 
without being seen. She returned, after seven days of vomiting, and waited seven hours to see the 
doctor. Jessica has lost thirteen pounds since being detained.  

Complainant #2: “Mira.” Mira is a 22-year-old Salvadoran woman detained with her three 
children, ages 6, 4, and 2. She is engaged to a U.S. citizen and had planned to enter the U.S. 
legally, but was forced to flee suddenly when gang members threatened her life in El Salvador. 
Before Mira even arrived at Dilley, she was held for a week by CBP and was sick, vomiting, and 
unable to eat, but refused medical care upon her request. At 5 am on June 30, CCA officials at 
Dilley woke Mira and informed her that her children had to go to a doctor’s appointment. When 
Mira asked why, the officials did not respond, instead ordering her and her children to follow 
him. The official led them to a place outside the communal bathroom where more than 20 other 
mothers and children were gathered, having also just been woken up. The official then led the 
group to the chapel, which was filled with women and children. Mira learned from other women 
that the children were going to receive vaccinations. After they had waited for almost five hours, 
medical staff informed Mira and the other women that the vaccines were mandatory and handed 
them a list of vaccines the children would receive. When Mira informed medical staff that her 
children had already received all of the listed vaccines, the doctor told her that they would be 
administered again. Within two or three days, Mira’s two-year-old child was vomiting, with a 

                                                             
1 Pseudonyms are used to protect the identities of the mothers submitting this complaint. Full names and Alien 
registration numbers will be provided concurrently with this complaint to CRCL and OIG.  
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high fever and a terrible cough. Mira has tried three times to take him to the clinic, but has been 
repeatedly told that she could not see a doctor without an appointment and advised to return the 
next day.  

Complainant #3: “Irena.” Irena is a 27-year-old woman from El Salvador who fled after gang 
members threatened to cut out her tongue because they believed she was reporting their activities 
to the police. She and her two-year-old son Oscar are detained at Dilley. Officers woke Irena and 
Oscar at 5:30 am and ordered them to go to the medical clinic. There, Oscar received five 
vaccinations. Although Irena told the officer that her son was up to date on his vaccinations, the 
officer responded that there was no way to prove that and her son thus needed to get all of the 
vaccinations. A nurse roughly administered the vaccinations into Oscar’s leg. After the 
vaccinations, he could not walk. That night, he spiked a high fever. Irena did not take him to the 
clinic because she had heard from other women that the clinic staff would not do anything for a 
child with a fever following vaccinations. After a few days, a nurse came early in the morning to 
see if any children had developed fevers following the vaccinations and indicated that the 
children had received an adult dose of one of the vaccines.  Later that day, Oscar developed a 
problem with his eyes. He cried and rubbed his eyes, unable to sleep. When Irena took him to the 
clinic, the doctor said his eye problem was viral and had nothing to do with the vaccinations. 
Since receiving the vaccinations, Oscar has eaten very little. 

Complainant #4: “Lillian.” Lillian fled Honduras after a gang beat her 10-year-old daughter 
and threatened both of their lives. She arrived at Dilley with ten-year-old Rosa on June 3, 2015. 
After a six-hour bus journey and waiting eleven hours to be showed to her room, Lillian got on 
her knees to pray, but around 8 pm she fainted. She awoke in a hospital, receiving intravenous 
fluids and oxygen. A cardiologist and neurologist examined her and she underwent various tests. 
Upon discharge from the hospital, Lillian received her medical records. Returning to Dilley at 4 
am, she was transported directly to the medical clinic, where she handed over the papers she 
received at the hospital. Lillian was returned to her room with sleeping medication and woke up 
later that day to see the doctor. Lillian asked the doctor for her medical records and the doctor 
told her that she “did not need them” because the medical results were “fine.”  

On Thursday June 25, an official came to Lillian’s room at 6am and woke her for a medical 
appointment at 9 am with a doctor. That day, Lillian and Rosa waited about 14 hours to see the 
doctor, with Rosa missing school. At 11 pm that night, Lillian told clinic officials that she 
needed to take Rosa, who had fallen asleep, to bed. She was told that her doctor’s appointment 
would be rescheduled, but she never actually received another appointment. Lillian felt light 
headed and dizzy for the next five days until she fainted again on June 30. She awoke in the 
medical facility at Dilley, unable to speak or move. Lillian remembers medical personnel 
pounding her chest repeatedly and telling her to stay awake. For a week afterwards, Lillian’s 
chest was swollen and bruised and ten-year-old Rosa applied cream to her mother’s chest.  

During this same incident on June 30, in an attempt to give Lillian intravenous fluids, two 
medical personnel pricked Lillian with a needle seven times and laughed each time they were 
unsuccessful locating a vein. Lillian cried out in pain for them to stop. Despite her request for 
them to stop, the women continued and found a vein in her other hand and inserted a tube with 
fluids. Lillian was then wheeled on a stretcher to an ambulance, where the EMT immediately 
took out the tube and showed Lillian that the needle was bent, saying “look what they did to 
you,” telling her that the two women did not know how to insert the tube. At the hospital Lillian 
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again received treatment from a cardiologist and neurologist, underwent various tests, and 
received oxygen. At one point a nurse handed Lillian paperwork, explaining that the doctor at 
Dilley would explain the results to her. When Lillian was brought back to Dilley, she saw a 
doctor who asked for the hospital paperwork. The doctor threw the papers on top of a black bin 
on the floor by a desk. Lillian asked if she could keep the papers because she may need them and 
tried to pull the papers out of the bin. The doctor then seized the papers, placing them behind her 
computer out of Lillian’s reach. Lillian explained to the doctor that she was still having severe 
headaches, the right side of her face would become swollen, her right eye red, her left arm felt 
like pins and needles, and her hand become pale with purple spots on the palm. The doctor told 
Lillian she needed to see a psychologist.  

Lillian has seen a psychologist on four occasions since arriving at Dilley, each time for around 
only ten minutes and each time in the presence of her ten-year-old daughter. Lillian desperately 
wanted to share what she was feeling with the psychologist but felt inhibited by the presence of 
her daughter, who would cry if Lillian started to tell her story. Lillian asked if her daughter could 
play outside the consultation room but the psychologist told Lillian that she needed to stay in the 
room and gave Rosa some gum to try to calm her down.  

Lillian’s concerns for Rosa are mounting. Rosa has asked her mother why they cannot leave and 
asked “what if we die? Can we leave then?” Only ten years old, Rosa has told her mother that 
she will never forget this experience. Distraught and overwhelmed about the effects of detention 
on Rosa, Lillian went to the bathroom intending to slit her wrists with a razor. After this event, 
Lillian met for the fourth time with the psychologist. After disclosing her suicide attempt to the 
psychologist, Lillian and Rosa were held in isolation for three days. Rosa cried and begged to 
leave the room but the psychologist told her that she had to stay with her mother. Rosa was 
bored, angry, and sad in isolation and Lillian felt immense guilt for separating Rosa from the 
other residents in the facility because of her depression and suicide attempt.  

A doctor visited Lillian when she was in isolation, telling her he wanted to talk to her about test 
results revealing a “black shadow” in the upper right side of her face, where her headaches 
originate. He explained that they wanted to do tests in the morning and would be drawing a lot of 
blood. Lillian asked why she needed tests when the other doctors had told her that the previous 
test results had been fine and the doctor said, “I don’t know why they didn’t explain the results 
earlier.” The doctor examined Lillian and found extreme pain on the left side of her body, near 
her womb. He told Lillian that he would order a prescription for her and that the next day she 
would have blood drawn. No one showed up the next day to draw blood. A psychologist came 
the next day and inquired about the blood tests, and when the psychologist realized the tests had 
not occurred, she told Lillian the blood would be taken the next morning. Again, the next 
morning, no tests were performed.  

Complainant #5: “Francisca.” Francisca fled Guatemala after a gang threatened her and her 
daughter. While Francisca was detained at Dilley, she felt a sharp pain in her stomach and 
arrived at the medical clinic at around 3 am. She waited at the clinic for nearly six hours before 
finally being transferred, in extreme pain, to a hospital. At the hospital, the decision was made to 
immediately remove her appendix. Francisca knew her child was being cared for by an official, 
but was concerned about his welfare. Francisca’s appendix was removed on June 14 and she was 
transferred back to Dilley the same day. Even immediately after this surgery, Francisca had to 
walk from her room to the medical clinic twice a day to receive her pain medications. Following 
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the surgery, she was running a high fever and constantly vomiting. She sought medical attention 
at the clinic, arriving at 9 am and was forced to wait for five hours to see a nurse, who told her to 
return to her room and drink water. The next day, Francisca felt even worse but had lost faith in 
the clinic, so did not return to the clinic for help because she knew she would not get any medical 
attention. Eventually, as her symptoms increased, she returned to the clinic and upon arrival 
fainted from exhaustion and sickness. She woke up in a bed and was told to go home and drink 
water.  

Complainant #6: “Melinda.” Melinda is a 20-year-old mother who fled a lifetime of abuse in 
El Salvador, beginning with rapes and physical abuse at the hands of her stepfather as a young 
girl, and then an abusive relationship that she entered into at age eleven with a partner who beat 
her so badly that she miscarried and used his connections to the gangs to intimidate and control 
her. Melinda arrived at Dilley with a broken hand after a gang kidnapped, raped, and beat her 
constantly for five days. She fled after the gang threatened to kill her after she sought treatment 
at the hospital. On arrival at Dilley Melinda showed officials her broken pinky finger, sticking 
out to the left of her hand. Officials told her that it did not matter, that nothing was wrong, and 
that she should drink some water. Melinda decided to see the doctor anyway. The doctor did not 
examine Melinda, but looked at her hand, told her nothing was wrong, and that she should drink 
water. Melinda continues to experience pain in her hand. She is unable to move two of her 
fingers and they are bent in the wrong direction. She has extreme pain in her wrist and hand and 
has trouble sleeping and writing. At one point, Melinda sought medical treatment for her son, 
who recently turned 4 in detention, who was vomiting with a fever. After six hours of waiting to 
see the doctor, the doctor told Melinda that her son should drink water and that he should see a 
psychologist, because there was nothing physically wrong with him. A second time, Melinda 
took her son, who again was vomiting with a fever, to the clinic. She was advised that she would 
have to wait for six hours, which she knew would only make her son sicker, so she left, after 
being forced to sign a form saying that she refused medical attention for her son. Melinda’s son 
became so sick that he virtually stopped eating. She did not feel like she could take him to the 
clinic because she did not think she would get help and would only be told to have her son drink 
water. Her son wakes up from his sleep coughing. When she arrived at Dilley, her son weighed 
fifty pounds and now weighs only thirty-nine pounds.  

Complainant #7: “Yaniret.” Yaniret is a 24-year-old mother fleeing threats of death in her 
native Honduras. Yaniret was detained with her five-year-old daughter, Cecilia, at Karnes for 
fifty-two days. Yaniret and her daughter suffered with inadequate medical treatment and 
indignity at Karnes that left her feeling powerless, eventually resulting in self-harm. In early 
May, Yaniret took her daughter to the clinic at Karnes because she noticed her daughter had a 
strange vaginal secretion. The doctor at Karnes told Yaniret he would take a swab from the outer 
areas of little Cecilia’s vaginal lips, but instead shoved a probe deep into her vagina. Cecilia 
screamed in pain. The same day, Yaniret and her daughter were taken to a clinic outside of the 
detention center. The doctor who examined Cecilia wrote a prescription for antibiotics for 
Cecilia’s infection. Back at Karnes, however, Yaniret was never able to access these prescribed 
antibiotics for Cecilia. She felt very upset about how little power she had over the health of her 
daughter.  

At the end of May, GEO staff members took Yaniret and Cecilia to a different outside doctor to 
examine her infection. Cecilia refused to be examined, crying and hysterical, because she was 
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traumatized from the first doctor’s rough handling and shoving of a probe into her vagina. In the 
first week of June, Yaniret spoke with a woman from the Honduran consulate who later 
accompanied Yaniret and Cecilia to another outside clinic. The doctor confirmed that Cecilia 
needed medicine and wrote a second prescription. Back at Karnes, however, Cecilia never 
received the prescribed medication. Several times Cecilia was told that she would be able to 
leave without a bond and several times ICE or GEO officials rescinded this offer. When Yaniret 
spoke with a journalist and showed her a diaper of Cecilia’s secretion that was untreated, GEO 
staff members denied her food. Yaniret also spoke out when Congressional officials visited 
Karnes. Soon after this, she was assigned to another ICE deportation officer and her bond was set 
at $8500, an amount Yaniret was unable to pay. As her daughter suffered in detention, Yaniret 
felt that “ICE and GEO were taking away my ability to be a mother.” She was unable to obtain a 
new pair of shoes for GEO when little Cecilia’s shoes wore through at the sole, and was forced 
to send Cecilia to school in socks. At one point, GEO staff members threw food at Yaniret. 
Feeling powerless and depressed, Yaniret resorted to self-harm. She fainted and was put in 
isolation in the medical unit. She was stripped naked against her will, wearing only a heavy 
green jacket. Yaniret asked the doctor to speak to her attorney and he responded that she could 
not talk to anyone. Yaniret remained in isolation, but could hear her daughter crying from a room 
nearby. The same doctor later referenced Yaniret cutting herself in front of her five-year-old 
daughter, understandably not something that Yaniret wanted little Cecilia to know.   

Complainant #8: “Maria.” Maria arrived at the Berks family detention facility as a 19-year-old 
mother, fleeing severe domestic violence and gang violence in Honduras. She was detained for 
over 11 months with her toddler, Flor. Maria suffered from a heart condition, which manifested 
while in detention. Although there are at least two medically documented instances where she 
fell unresponsive and had to be revived in detention; she never had a formal diagnosis nor was 
she given medication. For a period of time, Maria was required to carry a heart monitor with her 
throughout the detention facility. She was regularly dizzy and suffered with blurry vision, chills, 
and losing consciousness. On one occasion, she collapsed in the bathroom and fell unconscious, 
resulting in a black eye, swollen cheek, and severe contusions on her arms. After coming to, she 
was simply told to lay down and drink water, rather than being sent for care or tests. 
 
Flor also suffered from numerous illnesses in detention. After 10 months in detention, she started 
vomiting large amounts of blood. When Maria took Flor to the clinic, she was told that her 
daughter was fine, and simply to drink hot or cold water. Flor continued to vomit for three days, 
and was never taken for external medical care or hospitalized. Blood stained her clothing, bed, 
and the floor. Other mothers at the facility, terrified by this situation, attempted to reach out to 
local lawyers for help. It was not until Flor was struggling to walk and had not eaten to days that 
she was finally taken to the hospital. Although Maria had requested yogurt as something her 
daughter might eat, she was told that she would need a prescription for special food. Flor 
received no further testing or follow-up care after her hospitalization. A Berks physician also 
determined that she did not need the medication prescribed by a doctor outside the facility. 
Eventually, after Maria’s lawyer notified an external pediatrician who, upon hearing the story 
and seeing photos of the bloodstained shirt, called the state child abuse hotline. After this, Flor 
received another doctor’s appointment and an appointment with a specialist, scheduled for a 
month after her final court hearing. She was released from Berks – after 11 months detention – 
when she and her mother were granted relief. They are now receiving care outside the facility.  
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Complainant #9: “Iliana.” Iliana was detained at Berks with her two-year-old daughter for over 
9 months. After 4 months of detention she began to experience severe headaches and blackouts. 
She was brought to an eye doctor outside of the facility who determined she suffers from 
glaucoma and is legally blind and referred her for an MRI because the doctor sensed a more 
serious condition.  It took several months and unexplained outside doctors’ visits before she was 
finally given a diagnosis of Chiari malformation, a brain condition where the spinal cord does 
not full cover the brain tissue. Iliana had already been diagnosed with Post-traumatic Stress 
Disorder, both by the in-house social worker and an outside psychiatrist. Despite these severe 
mental and physical health conditions, ICE refused to parole her.  She also had some dental 
issues and was taken on a 4-5 hour trip to Philadelphia because the staff insisted that five teeth 
had to be removed at once, and could only find a dentist in Philadelphia willing to do so.  Her 
face was very swollen from the tooth removal, and she could not eat or talk.  It was while she 
was in that condition that ICE ultimately decided to release Iliana and her two-year-old daughter 
immediately. 
 
Complainant #10: “Jocelyn.” Jocelyn fled from her native El Salvador when gangs targeted 
and threatened her. She was detained at Dilley with her two-year-old son, Luis, for more than 2 
months. During her detention, Luis had diarrhea for 15 days that was not treated. Jocelyn sought 
medical attention for him for at least 7 straight days and each day she was turned away after a six 
or seven hour wait. She only saw a nurse once and was told just to have her son drink water. Her 
son also has ball of flesh on his arm which was bleeding and secreting puss and the doctors did 
not do anything about this. At Dilley, her son cried from the pain in his arm.  
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Kristina Shull, Ph.D. 
DOB 12/13/1980 
Country of Origin: United States 
 
Re: 
Andis Vorfi (spouse of Kristina Shull at time of detention) 
Age at time of detention: 37 
Country of Origin: Albania 
Gender identity: male 
Name of Facility: Elizabeth Detention Center (CCA) 
Dates individual was detained: 5/10/07 – 08/1/07 
Topics covered in complaint: Hygiene, visitor access, medical, recreation, and legal 
access 
 
I swear under penalty of perjury that the following statements are true and accurate to 
the best of my knowledge.  
 
I write this testimony as both a U.S. citizen who has been negatively affected by the 
privatization of immigrant detention through the detention and deportation of my spouse, 
Andis Vorfi, in 2007, and also as a Ph.D.-holding historian with expertise in U.S. 
immigration and detention policy. 
 
In May of 2007, my husband Andis Vorfi was arrested by ICE and detained at the 
Corrections Corporation of America-run Elizabeth Detention Center in Elizabeth, New 
Jersey. In compliance with an order of removal issued after his appeal for political 
asylum was denied, Andis was detained from May 10, 2007 to August 1, 2007 before 
being deported to Albania. I visited Andis almost every day in detention during this 
three-month period.  
 
As I visited and spoke on the phone with Andis daily, he told me of his witnessing and 
experiencing these conditions: 

• Used clothing, including underwear and undershirts with holes in them, to wear 
• Used toothbrushes, grooming appliances, rusty razors, and expired toothpaste 

given to the men to use  
• Limited bedding and thin/small blankets in a cold, air-conditioned environment 
• Men sleeping on the floor 
• Toilets with no stalls, meals served, and 40 beds all in the same room with no 

privacy 
• Little to no access to the “law library” that contained books that were two to three 

decades old 
• Spoiled food and food served beyond printed expiration dates 
• Requests for medical assistance facing long delays, or no response 
• Andis’s eye infection treated only with aspirin 
• Other detainees’ medical conditions treated only with aspirin or sedatives 
• No outdoor recreation 
• High prices for commissary items 
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• High prices for phone cards 
 
In addition to these conditions faced by men in detention, I experienced the following as 
a family member and visitor: 

• Long waiting times, sometimes 2-3 hours 
• Arbitrary and uneven enforcement of dress codes (for example, I was denied 

visits on multiple occasions due to an article of clothing I was wearing, a long 
skirt, that I was told did not meet standards, but in fact it did) 

• No accountability or transparency: ICE officers referring me to CCA employees 
for inquiries or complaints, and CCA employees referring me to ICE officers for 
inquiries or complaints. 

 
It became clear to me that the for-profit nature of the Elizabeth Detention Center presents 
a conflict of interest in the government’s responsibility to uphold standard conditions of 
care for immigrant detainees, resulting in grave human rights violations in the expired 
and unsafe food and products served, gross medical neglect, and overall worsened, 
crowded conditions. In addition, private contract facilities are especially opaque and 
continue to operate with limited accountability.  
 
In addition to my personal experience with for-profit immigrant detention, I also teach 
and conduct research in the history of immigration policy and detention in the United 
States. I am currently a Lecturer in History at the University of California, Irvine, and my 
doctoral dissertation, “Nobody Wants These People”: Reagan’s Immigration Crisis and 
America’s First Private Prisons, analyzes the factors that led to the adoption of prison 
contracting in the 1980s under the Reagan Administration. The first federal private prison 
contracts were granted to the INS in 1983, part of a set of new detention policies 
established by the Reagan Administration that make up today’s current system.   
 
I have found that private prisons were not adopted out of careful consideration or in 
response to informed, extended research, nor were they rooted in fiscal sense, but were 
instead a politically expedient alternative opted for as a temporary solution during a time 
of prison overcrowding, misguided public fears of rising crime rates and anti-immigrant 
sentiment, and Cold War foreign policy commitments that mandated extended time in 
detention for certain migrant groups (such as Mariel Cubans, Haitians, and Salvadorans). 
As early as 1983, the General Accounting Office found extended immigrant detention to 
be both inhumane and too costly (General Accounting Office, “Detention Policies 
Affecting Haitian Nationals,” Washington, D.C., General Accounting Office, June 16, 
1983, iv.), and recommended that alternatives to detention be found. However, the use of 
private contracting has continued despite a long record of abuse, unrest, and human rights 
violations in these facilities.  
 
In conclusion, private contracting is especially harmful in the realm of immigrant 
detention due to the current lack of codification of detention standards, and lack of access 
to legal counsel and family networks of support that immigrant detainees face.  
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Kristina Shull, Ph.D. 

 
 
9/30/2016 

SIGNATURE DATE 
 







NAME:	 Daria Voronina 

AGE	AT	TIME	OF	DETENTION:	 32 

COUNTRY	OF	ORIGIN:	 Russia 

GENDER	IDENTITY:	 Female 

NAME	OF	FACILITY:	 Adelanto Detention Facility 

DATES	INDIVIDUAL	WAS	DETAINED	AT	
FACILITY:	

10/21/15 – 09/14/16 

TOPICS	COVERED	IN	COMPLAINT	
(MEDICAL,	DUE	PROCESS,	SAFETY,	ETC.):	

Medical, food, hygiene, safety, recreation, mistreatment by 
guards, solitary confinement, due process 

	

I swear under penalty of perjury that the following statements are true and accurate to the best 
of my knowledge.  

[Below are excerpts from letters sent by Daria Voronina to Community Initiatives for Visiting 
Immigrants in Confinement (CIVIC), transcribed by Kristina Shull] 

*7/20/16 

My name is Daria. I’m girl from Russia. I’m detainee in Adelanto Detantion facility 9 month. I 
came in USA 21 Oct 2015 and apply for the asylum. I want to announce my experience in 
Adelanto D.F… I hope journalists in media group can help me announce it, and I want to share 
my story with peoples why is fighting for the human rights in USA and why is not indifferent. 
Sorry for my bad English, I’m science educated girl, but I was learning my English here, 9 
month in jail, my self. I’m Jewish girl and I like people and I like helping people also. I want to 
tell you some things about Adelanto… It is very worse place, where is I ever been in my life. I 
receive here in facility mental and physical abuse and torture… 

I’m not agree with judge, but also I can’t endure anymore… I don’t know what I need to do… 
My health from bad to worse… 

They give me a grievance form—it’s complain form, but not give me pensils. I was can’t fill 
grievance form. 

[In solitary confinement] without blankets, toilet paper, woman pads, shower with soap, dental 
kit, they ignore me totally… I’m not alone in this problem. 

GEO Group practice it, system for the torture people. GEO it’s private big business, nobody can 
observe them, every thing locked, hided. 

*8/22/16 

I was in medical unit 2 weeks ago and I watched how couple of nurses locked on Asian girl in 
medical insulator, girl was cried she asked many time about explanation why they put her in 



isolation insulator… I told the nurses, they are supposed to give the girl paper, about why she 
was locked up… 

They humiliate me many times, insult, yelling in my face, like I’m deaf, pressing me sign them 
papers (I was told them many times about that, I have legal rights, not sign any paper). Officers 
from facility unprofessional… one officer told me, she was delivery pizza 2 weeks ago, and she 
came in Geo, she had a training for 2 hours and now she is big, important officer here! It’s 
ridiculouse but it’s fact… 

I 10 month here, from 21 Oct 2015, and I receive enough harm, mistreatment, mental and 
physical abuse. [wore a bandage on arm for 2 weeks after assault by guard for refusing to return 
to a lice-infected dorm, put in segregation. She asked the officer]: “Why you torture me? It’s not 
your duty.” It was obviouse, she had adrenalin in her blood, her eyes was alight. I told her I 
professional psychologist, and I understud what’s happen and she was not ok. I start told her 
about my plan. I wanna announce it anyway, about what she did with tell me tell DHS and ICE. 
She start threatening me, “It’s very bad for my case.” I was in insolation for 72 hours and I took 
hunger strike. 

This all system make money on us. It’s big business… I paid $3200 for the rice, noodles, and 
phone calls… 

Why I need suffering here? Because I search help from the US government…? Why I need to be 
in jail? I didn’t do anything wrong. I never was convicted, I pass interview, I have a credible 
fear, I have my cousin my sponsor in America who want to support me outside, also I have 
money in my bank account, also I have 3 master degree from different university, I can work. 
Why I need sitting in jail? Geo-ICE keeping detainees here more 5 years!!!… We have no one 
actual book or magazine here, all the books 1980 years issued. All my life I studyed every my 
day, but here 10 month I alredy in degradation process, because of that… 

Geo just make business well, we, all of us, meat for them, earning quick money. I agree with 
Hillary Clinton all facility like Geo supposed to be closed. 

*8/26/16 

U.S. Senator Dianne Feinstein now in facility. We (all detainees) was see her at 12 today, Friday, 
August 26th. We had a hope speak with her, but nothing happen. She was in dorm here in facility, 
aroud assistents from Warden. They are dansing around her with prepared show, it was 
ridiculouse… They told her prepared fake show. We detainees was watched her and want to 
speak, but we didn’t have a chance… I want to send this letter for you. You can send for her or 
you can publish it. We everybody agree. Please make it for us… Americans and government 
need to know what’s go in on in real life not just on the papers and prepared show. We too much 
suffering here, us need a help. Big thank you. 

Adelanto detainees, 8/26/16 

Claims for GEO. 



1) Facility Adelanto (Geo) don’t follow shedule for the backyard (detainees no receive fresh 
air sometimes 3-5 days). 

2) Geo give for detainees trash, no possible eat food (example 8/14/16 gave for us expired 
pizza on the boxes was date 7/29/16, also regular good GMF (genetic modification). 
Facility no have special diet, they are write special diet, but it’s the same food, which 
regular detainee receive. 

3) Geo give for detainees old, used from another detainees underwear (top and bottom), old 
uniform. 

4) Officers in Geo unprofessional, treating us like prisoners, inhumiliate, insult, pressing, 
yelling on the face, without reason, threat put in insolation, make bad for the case, they 
rude, agressive dominant with us. 

5) Facility no have actual literatures, no magazines, no new book, all book old 1980 years 
issue. (It’s make degradation process). No internet. 

6) Facility no provide fitness, or yoga classes, no have exercise, no English classes. We 
can’t reduse stress, body weak. 

7) Bad, very limited medical help. 
8) Facility have a bad quality water, which damaged skin and hair. 
9) Facility make mix new and old time arrived detained (which make hight risk catch illness 

and make epidemic). It was 2 time. One epidemic was lice insects, another time all unit 
catch influenza. Medical just gave me 10 single serv bags iodized salt. Tuberculosis also 
problem here. 

10) Geo hinder make job for the court. 
11) A grievanse form doesn’t work. 
12) Geo make punish us, they can lock in insolation without reason, usually reason for them, 

investigation process, which go on 72 hours lock. And then they didn’t found nothing. 
13) Double price detainees pay in commissary. 
14) Iron bed, no have pillows, old, bad mattresses. 
15) Geo no allowed use personal staff (also after medical necessity permission) 
16) For the one conversation on the phone detainee pay 5-7$ (expensive). 
17) Unit no have privacy, all restrooms opened.  
18) 120 people in one room, it’s make too much noise. We have no sleeping or relax rooms. 
 

Generosity, kindness and respect should be treated every human being! 

*8/29/16 

I have a bad news. Today a grievance woman came to me in dorm, she gave me a grievance form 
from 8/24/16 and she gave me her response about it. Facility start treating me smart and 
official… very rude, aggressive and dominant with me. When I came to her, ask about backyard, 
because already 5 days, Geo didn’t open backyard for us.  

A grievance woman she is working for the Geo, and all the time she is defending Geo or also 
now I understood she hide a grievance forms and usually she response oral arguments, not in the 
paper… she wrote me she spoke with witnesses, who is her witnesses? It was in dorm full of 
detainees which was all witnesses and they was in indignation about how officer was action with 
me, also 2 detainees came to me and told me, they also had a problems with the same officer. 



One of them told me on the breakfast, officer M. gave her rotten orange and detainee ask her 
about she don’t want to eat rotten orange, and officer M. with yelling on her refuse change 
orange, that reason for Geo was put her in insolation for the 12 hours because Officer M. was lies 
in her report… and in the end Geo just defended officers, never hearing detainees, they put her in 
segregation for the nothing. 

I ask the girls, “are you wrote a grievance about it?” They are told me, “not” they don’t want to 
be against Geo because Geo already told them it’s will be bad for them cases and they fear Geo. 
All that system go on the circle, everybody happy but not the detainees… suffering in jail, 
peoples around earning big money for the us bodyes and told me I can’t defend myself… Geo 
pretending to be angel and it’s will be hard, tough prove inverse. 

 

 

*[Full letters from 7/20/16, 8/22/16, 8/26/16, and 8/29/16 attached here] 

 

These excerpts transcribed by Kristina Shull 

 

9/30/16 
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